© 2006 Adis Data Information BV. All rights reserved.

Sports Activity after Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty Specific Recommendations Concerning Tennis

Thorsten M. Seyler, Michael A. Mont, Phillip S. Ragland, Munaf M. Kachwala and Ronald E. Delanois

Sinai Hospital of Baltimore, Rubin Institute for Advanced Orthopedics, Center for Joint Preservation and Reconstruction, Baltimore, Maryland, USA

Contents

Abstract	571
1. Results of Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty after High Activity Levels	573
1.1 Effects of Activity in General	573
1.2 Specific Hip Studies 5	574
1.3 Specific Knee Studies	574
2. Surgeons' Perspective	575
2.1 General Perspective	575
2.2 Specific Hip Perspective	576
2.3 Specific Knee Perspective	
3. Patients' Perspective	578
4. Patients' Ability to Return to Sports	579
4.1 General Studies	579
4.2 Specific Hip Studies	
4.3 Specific Knee Studies	580
5. Discussion	580
6. Conclusions	581

Abstract

Lower extremity total joint arthroplasties are among the most successful operations in orthopaedics. Presently, it appears that some patients wish to not only have general functions restored, but also desire the opportunity to return or continue on a high level of activity. This review summarises the literature concerning athletic activity, and tennis in particular, in relation to lower extremity total joint arthroplasties. Orthopaedic surgeons frequently recommend participation in low-impact sports such as swimming, walking, bicycling, bowling and golf. The patient's return to these recreational activities appears to be without problems. In contrast, there has been a general consensus from surgeons to avoid high-impact sports such as tennis and jogging after total joint arthroplasty, but

there have been numerous studies that reported functional results being compatible with these activity levels. Conflicts emerge with some studies that describe lower survival rates for hip and knee arthroplasty in patients participating in high-impact sports. Most of these studies report that participation in sporting activities following total joint arthroplasty refers to increased polyethylene wear and debris, which could eventually result in implant failure. With recent advances in implant technology and surgical technique, the survival rates for modern prosthetic designs and patients with these high demands are promising. Various studies assessing the association between clinical outcome and participation in tennis did not demonstrate a harmful effect on implant survival rates. Although the majority of these studies do not reflect a true representation of the average patient undergoing total joint arthroplasty, more surgeons are confronted with the patients' desire to continue with sports activity. To optimise results, patients who demand higher levels of activity must be carefully selected, and must have the motivation and drive to optimise their results. In general, all patients should be encouraged to remain physically active to improve general health, maintain good bone quality, and improve implant fixation. There is still a need for prospective, randomised controlled studies concerning high activity and its impact on total joint arthroplasty.

As the number of senior citizens participating in athletic activity increases and more younger patients are undergoing total knee and hip arthroplasty surgeries, orthopaedic surgeons are more commonly being confronted with patients interested in returning to sports activities. The primary goals of lower extremity joint arthroplasty have traditionally been pain relief and restoration of minimal impact activities of daily living, with patients commonly discouraged from participating in high-activity athletics. Based on new patient expectations, it appears that some patients wish to not only have general functions restored, but also desire to increase or continue at a high activity level.

There are few studies specifically analysing participation in athletic activity following standard total hip or knee arthroplasties. The vast majority of these reports outline surgeon advice regarding general activities. Most studies recommend at most, low-impact sports, such as swimming, regular walking, cycling, golfing, hiking or bowling. In contrast, many orthopaedic surgeons encourage patients to avoid high-impact sports such as basketball, football, soccer, karate, running, racquetball or hockey in an effort to minimise polyethylene wear and prevent aseptic loosening.^[1-7]

The reports and recommendations specifically concerning tennis participation vary. In addition, it is important to understand that tennis can be either a low-impact or high-impact sport, depending on the patient's preference. We view doubles tennis as generally a fairly low-impact sport, whereas, singles tennis can easily exceed intermediate impact levels and be high impact.

Surgeons concerns about participation in sporting activities following total joint arthroplasty usually are based on the increased joint load resulting in augmented implant wear and debris generation, which can lead to periprosthetic osteolysis and eventual prosthetic failure.^[8-10] Schmalzried et al.^[11] evaluated activity levels and polyethylene wear in 37 hip replacements. They showed a positive correlation between higher walking speeds and wear (p = 0.07). Kilgus et al.^[12] compared revision rates of total hip arthroplasty patients who chose to participate in high-activity athletics to those without high activities. They found higher revision rates in the more active group compared with the less active group. Another factor against high-activity sports in these patients is that the participation may place the joint implant into extreme ranges of motion, which can lead to a greater risk for dislocation, loosening, or periprosthetic fracture. In summary, the basic premises are that these activities result in increased cyclic loading and other activity-related problems, so that high-activity sports should be avoided. However, there have been various studies in the literature that report no adverse effects of high activity on total hip or knee replacements.^[4,5,13-19] Thus, the controversy of sporting activities after total joint replacement remains a frequently debated topic among orthopaedic surgeons, and now more often has to be addressed because of patient demands.

The purpose of this article is to summarise the existing literature about athletic activity in general, and tennis in particular, in relation to both total hip and knee arthroplasties. In addition, a literature review will attempt to provide an evidenced-based rationale for recommendations for surgeons facing patient's concerns and questions to participate in tennis or any sports after surgery. The authors will approach this topic by analysing outcomes of lower extremity total joint arthroplasty, from a surgeons' point-of-view and from the patients' perspective. We will also examine the ability of patients to resume athletic activity as well as tennis.

1. Results of Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty after High Activity Levels

Several reports have analysed the outcome of lower extremity total joint arthroplasty after patient participation in sports in general as well as in highactivity athletics. Some studies have examined the effect of young age and have used this factor as a predictor of outcome with young age patients presumed to have high activity levels. The results of these outcome studies vary and will now be summarised.

1.1 Effects of Activity in General

Many studies focus on the adverse effects of activity after total joint arthroplasty. Schmalzried et al.^[20] reported that up to 500 000 submicron-sized polyethylene particles are released with each step after total knee arthroplasty. These wear particles initiate a cascade of processes eventually leading to periprosthetic osteolysis and aseptic loosening.^[21] Schmalzried et al.^[20] also reported that wear is a function of use.^[11]

In a multicentre study of 1081 total hip arthroplasties, Maloney et al.^[8] revealed that there was a correlation between polyethylene wear rate and patient age. At a minimum follow-up of 5 years (mean follow-up of 81 months), younger patients (<50 years of age) had higher wear rates and a higher risk for having periprosthetic osteolysis. They proposed that the most likely cause for the association between age and wear is patient activity level. Kilgus et al.^[12] analysed cemented surface replacements and cemented stemmed total hip arthroplasties in patients who regularly participate in sporting activities. The authors concluded that more active patients are at twice the risk for revision surgery for aseptic loosening when compared with less active patients. Kim et al.^[22] prospectively analysed 55 patients aged <50 years. The authors determined the prevalence of aseptic loosening, wear and osteolysis at a mean follow-up of 9 years. There was no case of aseptic loosening and six hips showed osteolysis (6%), but the authors were concerned about the particularly high rates of polyethylene wear (43.4 mm/year) in this group of patients. Similar results were found in various other studies.^[23-25] Finally, Gschwend et al.^[26] analysed two groups of 50 patients each after total hip arthroplasty. The first group did alpine and crosscountry skiing, whereas the second group did not participate in any type of winter sports. At a final follow-up of 10 years, the authors found a higher rate of wear in the group participating in winter sports activities.

1.2 Specific Hip Studies

In contrast, some studies have shown positive effects of activity on the outcome of total joint arthroplasty. Dubs et al.^[13] retrospectively analysed 110 patients (136 hips) with total hip arthroplasties. They found an increased incidence of revision due to aseptic loosening in the group of patients that did not participate in athletic activity (n = 49) when compared with those with intense sporting activity (n = 61). At a mean follow-up of 5.8 years, the authors reported seven revisions in the non-sporting group (14.3%) compared with only one revision in the group participating in sporting activity (1.6%). Similar results were found in two other studies. Von Strempel et al.^[17] reported aseptic loosening rates of total hip arthroplasty of 5% in an active group versus 10% in a non-active group of patients. Widhalm et al.^[18] found component loosening of 18% in the patient group that participated in sports compared with 57% in a group of patients that did not participate in sports after total hip arthroplasty. Utilising survivorship analysis, Cornell and Ranawat^[16] predicted the cumulative rate of success in a series of 101 primary total hips (85 patients) at a mean age of 50 years and at a mean follow-up of 7 years (range 4-13 years). Their analysis predicted an 87.6% success rate at 10-year follow-up. The authors reported no adverse effects on durability of components in younger more active patients.

In a questionnaire-based study of 214 total hip arthroplasties with at least 3-year follow-up, Ritter and Meding^[4] demonstrated that low-impact sports such as walking, golf or bowling had no negative effect on the clinical outcome of total hip arthroplasties. The authors showed a positive correlation between total activity scores after surgery and the preoperative range of motion (p < 0.01). Additionally, there was a positive correlation between the 6-month ranges of motion and total activity score immediately following surgery (p < 0.001). Thus, increased activity in the immediate post-operative period improved outcomes of total hip arthroplasty.

Mont et al.^[14] characterised patients who play tennis after total hip arthroplasty. In their study population of 75 hips, three hips (4%) underwent revision arthroplasty. However, the authors state that the inclusion criteria in their study may selfselect for a successful outcome. Because of the selection bias in their study, no conclusion should be drawn concerning revision rates in tennis players.

1.3 Specific Knee Studies

Lavernia et al.^[27] assessed the correlation between activity level, wear rate and length of prosthesis implantation in a study of autopsy retrieved specimens after total knee arthroplasty. At a mean length of implantation of 74 months, the authors found a positive correlation between activity level, length of implantation and wear rates. Mintz et al.^[28] arthroscopically evaluated tibial polyethylene in 33 patients after total knee arthroplasty. The authors demonstrated that component failure occurred predominantly in younger and more active patients. A case control-study by Jones et al.^[29] determined athletic activity as a risk factor for need for revision total knee arthroplasty. The authors looked at 26 patients that had primary total knee arthroplasties followed by revisions and compared them with a control group of 26 patients with total knee arthroplasties who did not have a revision. All patients were telephone interviewed concerning their activity levels post-operatively. Most of the activities were of low impact (swimming, walking). The authors concluded that physical activity is not a risk factor for revision total knee arthroplasty and that one should encourage patients to remain active after total knee arthroplasty. Diduch et al.^[19] evaluated 114 knee replacements in 88 young and active patients (aged <55 years). At a mean follow-up of 8 years (range 3–18 years) they reported a mean Knee Society Score of 94 points and a mean functional score of 89 points with an overall survival rate of 87% at 18 years. Some of the patients in this study regularly participated in high-impact sports such as tennis and skiing or were engaged in heavy labour such as farming.

In a recent study, Mont et al.^[30] compared radiographic and clinical outcomes of 50 patients engaged in a minimum of 4 years of high-impact activities such as golf, skiing, tennis, cycling or jogging following total knee arthroplasty, to an ageand sex-matched cohort of 50 sedentary patients. At a mean 7-year follow-up, there were two revisions and one clinical failure in each group with no progressive radiolucencies reported. Thus, high-impact activities conferred no difference in outcome at this mid-term follow-up study. The same authors also evaluated 30 total knee replacements in 30 patients aged <50 years at a mean 7-year follow-up (range 60–107 months).^[31] They found excellent or good clinical and radiographic outcome in 29 of 30 patients.

Mont et al.^[15] also analysed patients who played tennis after total knee arthroplasty. Thirty-three tennis players (46 knees) participated in the study. In two out of 46 knees (4%) revision surgery because of polyethylene wear was required at 8 and 11 years. Again, the inclusion criteria were self-selected and, therefore, there was a selection bias.

In summary, many study findings do not allow the reader to draw conclusions whether sports in general or high-impact activity such as singles tennis should be contraindicated after lower extremity total joint arthroplasty. Some studies reported beneficial effects of sports after total joint arthroplasty, some revealed negative effects such as high wear rates and osteolysis. Nevertheless, there are really no specific studies concerning outcome of total hip and knee arthroplasty after tennis activity in the literature.

2. Surgeons' Perspective

Surgeons generally have mimicked the results of studies concerning the outcome of lower extremity total joint arthroplasty in their patient recommendations. Most surgeons believe that total joint arthroplasty is primarily performed to improve function, pain and quality of life.^[32-34] In the vast majority of patients undergoing total joint arthroplasty, there is no problem in resuming an active lifestyle after the procedure.^[35-38] Moreover, some studies have revealed an increase in athletic activity after total joint arthroplasty.^[5,39,40] However, orthopaedic surgeons typically do not like to see patients resuming full sports activities following total joint arthroplasty. Following some of the literature reviews, surgeons consider athletic activity as a major risk factor for implant failure, especially in the younger, more active patient.^[41] The surgeons' worries predominantly deal with aseptic loosening secondary to intense polyethylene wear and debris in patients participating in athletic activity.^[10,11,20,42,43]

2.1 General Perspective

McGrory et al.^[2] analysed various sport activities and surgeons' recommendations after lower extremity total joint arthroplasty in a questionnaire-based study. The authors sent a questionnaire with a list of 28 common sports to 15 orthopaedic faculty members, 2 adult reconstruction fellows and 13 fifth-year orthopaedic residents. The surgeons were asked whether regular participation in the listed sport activities would be allowed after lower extremity arthroplasty surgery. The majority of the surgeons (>75%) would allow their patients to resume lowimpact activities such as swimming, cycling, sailing,

Activity	Rec.	Rec. with	Not rec.
		experience	
Stationary cycling	Yes		
Croquet	Yes		
Ballroom dancing	Yes		
Golf	Yes		
Horseshoes	Yes		
Shooting	Yes		
Shuffleboard	Yes		
Swimming	Yes		
Doubles tennis	Yes		
Walking	Yes		
Low-impact aerobics		Yes	
Road cycling		Yes	
Bowling		Yes	
Canoeing		Yes	
Hiking		Yes	
Horseback riding		Yes	
Cross-country skiing		Yes	
High-impact aerobics			Yes
Baseball/softball			Yes
Football			Yes
Soccer			Yes
Handball			Yes
Hockey			Yes
Jogging			Yes
Racquetball			Yes
Squash			Yes
Lacrosse			Yes
Gymnastics			Yes
Singles tennis			Yes
Rock climbing			Yes
Basketball			Yes
Volleyball			Yes
Rec. = recommended.			

 $\label{eq:table_l} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{Table I. 1999 The Hip Society consensus recommendations (reproduced from Healy et al., \end{table} \end{table} \end{table} \end{table} \end{table} \end{table} \begin{array}{l} \textbf{Table I. 1999 The Hip Society consensus recommendations (reproduced from Healy et al., \end{table} \$

scuba diving, golfing and bowling after total hip and knee arthroplasty. In addition, they would allow their patients to do cross-country skiing after total knee arthroplasty. Kusterand and Stachowiak^[42] demonstrated that increased cyclic loading of the polyethylene inlay causes increased wear and should therefore be avoided. They suggested that

surgeons should concentrate on these patient-based factors and restrict patient activity to avoid osteolysis and aseptic loosening.^[42] Dorr^[44] extensively commented on osteoarthritis, osteotomy, total joint arthroplasty and athletics. The author states that in younger patients the operative procedure should be correlated to patient's lifestyle and desired activity level. The continuation of athletic activity after surgery is reasonable as long as it is not dynamic and does not involve running or jumping. He recommended activities such as swimming, hiking, cycling, walking and golfing. Nicholls et al.^[3] stated that total hip and knee arthroplasty is a successful treatment for the arthritic hip and knee to relieve pain and restore function. However, for the younger, more active, ambitious patient, the authors recommend that athletic participation following index surgery should be limited to low-impact, low-demand and low-duration activities.

2.2 Specific Hip Perspective

Dubs et al.^[13] analysed sporting activity after standard total hip arthroplasty. In a retrospective review of 110 patients, they looked at patients with intense athletic activity and compared the findings with those who did not participate in athletic activity. The authors found no need to prohibit sports, especially with a gradual resumption of sports. They even included high-impact sports such as jogging and tennis in their recommendations. Mont et al.^[14] surveyed 58 tennis players regarding resumption of playing tennis after total hip arthroplasty. At the time of the survey, only eight of the patients' surgeons (14%) allowed this high-impact activity. Twenty surgeons (34%) tolerated doubles play and 30 surgeons (52%) were completely opposed to any type of tennis participation. Healey et al.^[45] surveyed 54 members of The Hip Society regarding their standpoint of participation in athletic activity after total hip arthroplasty. The responses were analysed with a statistical programme and consensus recommendations were proposed. In general, low-impact activities such as ballroom dancing, stationary cycling, golfing, swimming, walking and doubles tennis were allowed. There was a clear consensus that high-impact activities such as ball sports, squash and singles tennis are not recommended after the surgery. A summary of their results is displayed in table I.

2.3 Specific Knee Perspective

Mont et al.^[15] studied patients who resumed playing tennis after total knee arthroplasty. An analysis of questionnaire-collected data revealed that only seven orthopaedic surgeons (21%) approved playing tennis after the procedure. Fifteen surgeons (45%)recommended participation in doubles tennis, whereas 18 surgeons (55%) discouraged the patients in returning to play tennis. In a recent survey of 58 members of The Knee Society, consensus recommendation regarding athletic activity were published.^[45] Recommended activities included bowling, golfing, walking, swimming and dancing. A complete overview of their recommendations is given in table II. Bradbury et al.^[6] reviewed 176 patients concerning participation in sports after total knee arthroplasty. The authors concluded that it is reasonable to allow patients to return to low-impact activities such as swimming, cycling and walking. Despite new prostheses and refined surgical techniques, they recommended avoiding high-impact activities such as tennis.

In summary, there is little in the literature concerning concrete surgeon recommendations regarding athletic activity after lower extremity total joint arthroplasty. Most surgeons discourage patients from participating in sports.^[7,10,24] However, some reports actually encourage patients to resume athletic activity for general health and bone quality improvement.^[35,36] In general, for patients who would like to continue with their recreational activities, the

Activity	Rec.	Rec. with experience	Not rec.
Stationary cycling	Yes		
Croquet	Yes		
Ballroom dancing	Yes		
Golf	Yes		
Horseshoes	Yes		
Shooting	Yes		
Shuffleboard	Yes		
Swimming	Yes		
Doubles tennis	Yes		
Walking	Yes		
Low-impact aerobics	Yes		
Horseback riding	Yes		
Bowling	Yes		
Road cycling		Yes	
Speed walking		Yes	
Canoeing		Yes	
Hiking		Yes	
Tennis		Yes	
Cross-country skiing		Yes	
Rowing		Yes	
Ice skating		Yes	
Weight machines		Yes	
Stationary skiing		Yes	
Volleyball			Yes
Football			Yes
Soccer			Yes
Handball			Yes
Hockey			Yes
Jogging			Yes
Racquetball			Yes
Squash			Yes
Lacrosse			Yes
Gymnastics			Yes
Singles tennis			Yes
Rock climbing			Yes
Basketball			Yes

Table II. 1999 The Knee Society consensus recommendations (reproduced from Healy et al.,^[45] by permission of Sage Publications, Inc.)

majority of orthopaedic surgeons would recommend the avoidance of high-impact activities.

3. Patients' Perspective

Between 1990 and 2002, the rate of primary total hip arthroplasties increased by 46% and the rate of primary total knee arthroplasties increased by approximately 150% in the US.^[46] Much of this increase was due to a younger patient population undergoing total joint arthroplasty. With this increased demand for total joint arthroplasties, the ability to participate in athletic activity has become one of the biggest concerns of patients undergoing these procedures.^[47] The younger, and in general, more active patients have greater expectations.^[3]

Only few reports focus on these patient concerns and expectations to return to athletic activity. Several reports have focused on the importance of activity and its beneficial effects on medical problems such as obesity, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, anxiety, depression, osteoporosis, low back pain and coronary artery disease.^[35,36,48] However, the problem of returning to athletics and what type of activity remain key questions among patients of any age group. Media coverage of professional athletes returning to high-level sports after total joint arthroplasty and medical advertisement campaigns frequently imply unrealistic outcomes for the ordinary patient. These falsely raised patient expectations sometimes may lead to patient dissatisfaction after total joint arthroplasty.

The historical patient's expectations concerning lower extremity total joint arthroplasty were simple pain relief and restoration of general function.^[49,50] Moran et al.^[51] used a questionnaire-based study of 370 patients to assess patient worries before total hip and knee arthroplasty. The authors found cancellation of surgery, no relief in pain, risk of amputation, risk of infection and risk of dying in surgery to be the major concerns. Further statistically relevant concerns were stiffness, risk of dislocation, ability to use stairs, falling, joint replacement wearing out, bathing/washing ability, leg length discrepancy and post-operative pain. The study did not address recreational activities. Trousdale et al.^[47] prospectively surveyed 236 patients regarding concerns prior to total hip or knee arthroplasty. They found that pain after surgery, length of recovery, ability to walk, ability to return to recreational activities, ability to walk stairs, risk of getting AIDS from a transfusion, risk of infection and joint replacement wearing, as the main concerns in their patient population. In addition, hip patients were found to worry more about dislocation, continuation of sexual activity and leg length discrepancy; whereas knee patients concerns were the ability to use steps. Macario et al.^[52] analysed 48 patients considering undergoing total hip and knee arthroplasty regarding their concerns prior to surgery. The patients were asked to complete a survey with 30 questions and rate the importance of each question. The impact of the surgery to care for themselves, the ability to walk normally again, pain relief and post-operative pain were most important concerns of the patients. Again, this study did not address patient concerns regarding athletic activity after surgery.

Concerning tennis in particular, Mont et al.^[14] submitted a questionnaire to regional United States Tennis Association (USTA) members to identify patients who had undergone total hip replacement surgery. Fifty-eight members (75 hips) had total hip replacement surgery at a mean age of 62 years (range 42–77 years). All respondents stated a desire to resume or increase participation in tennis after surgery. In fact, for most of these patients, the primary reason for getting a total hip replacement was to resume playing tennis.

In a survey of 33 members of the USTA who had undergone 46 total knee replacements, Mont et al.^[15] analysed the functional abilities and degree of satisfaction of the respondents. The questionnaires solicited information regarding clinical data, general and specific questions on tennis. The patients underwent arthroplasty at a mean age of 57 years (range 30–79 years) and the questionnaire was completed at a mean 7 years post-operative (range 2-18 years). This study demonstrated that it is the patients' wish to participate in singles tennis against the advice of their orthopaedic surgeons.

In summary, historically patients have been concerned with returning to activities of daily living after lower extremity total joint arthroplasty. However, for many patients, the pain and the decrease in activity affecting daily living still continue to be the driving forces in proceeding of total joint arthroplasty surgery. More recently, questionnairebased studies have revealed an increased interest in returning to athletic activity and high-activity sports,^[47] which have been specifically exemplified to tennis by two studies of participation in hip and knee patients.^[14,15]

4. Patients' Ability to Return to Sports

There is little in the literature concerning patient ability to participate in various sports after lower extremity total joint arthroplasty. Sections 4.1–4.3 summarise sports activity in general after total hip and knee arthroplasty. Two studies concerning tennis after lower extremity arthroplasty are then specifically discussed.

4.1 General Studies

Huch et al.^[53] analysed sports activities performed pre-operatively and 5 years post-operatively in a multicentre study with 420 total hip and knee arthroplasties. Their patient population in this study consisted of 221 women and 199 men who had a mean age of 60 years. Thirty-six percent of the patients undergoing total hip arthroplasty participated in athletic activity prior to index surgery and the number of participation increased from 36% preoperatively to 52% post-operatively in hip patients. In the cohort of patients who had undergone knee replacement, the number of participants in sports declined from 42% pre-operatively to 34% postoperatively. The authors proposed that one of the reasons for the better results in the hip cohort was less pain. Approximately 9% of their hip patients reported pain post-operatively and 16% of the knee patients complained of persistent pain in the replaced joint. Mallon and Callaghan^[54] studied active golfers following total hip and knee arthroplasty. Most of the patients remained active golfers with no significant increase in symptoms or implant failure. Patients after total hip arthroplasty had a mild ache in the hip and knee region while playing golf, whereas patients with total knee arthroplasty had slightly more pain after golfing.

4.2 Specific Hip Studies

Visuri and Honkanen^[5] retrospectively interviewed 539 patients with a mean age of 64 years and a mean follow-up of 4.2 years concerning postoperative involvement in regular recreational activities after total hip arthroplasty. They reported an increase in the number of patients who participated in regular recreational activity following total joint replacement surgery. Prior to total hip arthroplasty, 439 patients (81%) did not participate in recreational activities. This number decreased to 173 patients (32%) who did not participate in sports post-operatively. In addition, the authors showed an overall increase in the number of patients participating in several low-impact activities such as walking, cycling, swimming and skiing. Chatterji et al.^[39] surveyed 235 total hip arthroplasties 1 or 2 years after index surgery, specifically asking how the arthroplasty had affected the patient's athletic activity. The number of patients participating in athletic activity increased from 188 pre-operatively to 196 post-operatively. Moreover, the majority of patients stated that the arthroplasty had a beneficial effect on their activity. Although the total number of sports activities decreased from 434 pre-operatively to 382 post-operatively, there have been only five activities where the authors reported a significant change from pre-operatively compared with post-operatively. The participation in sports such as walking (p < p)(0.0001) and aqua aerobics (p = (0.002)) increased, whereas patients stopped participating in golf (p =0.005), tennis (p = 0.01) and jogging (p = 0.01). A single case report by Peters^[55] describes a 69-yearold patient who received bilateral total hip arthroplasties and resumed with his recreational activities (walking, mountaineering). The patient was particularly experienced in high-altitude mountaineering (>4000m) and after having bilateral total hip arthroplasties, the patient was able to return to mountaineering at very high, even professional levels. Ritter and Meding^[4] reported an overall decrease in the number of patients participating in athletic activity following total hip arthroplasty by 27% (164-119 patients). This might reflect the surgeons' conservative recommendations to not participate in sports following total hip arthroplasty surgery.

In the questionnaire study of USTA members, patients returned to competitive play at a mean of 6.7 months (range 1-12 months) after hip surgery.^[14] At the time of the survey, the patients' mean National Tennis Rating Program (NTRP) level was 4.12 (range 1-7) compared with 4.25 before the onset of symptoms. This represented a near full return to competitive performance post-operatively, which was sustained through the 8-year follow-up. All patients reported an improvement in most mobility parameters assessed, with a slight loss in court speed. Various components of the patients' game such as shifting weight in the forehand, backhand, volley, serve, follow-through in strokes, and the ability to move side to side, or forward to serve a volley significantly improved after total hip arthroplasty. Of the 58 patients, 18 (31%) had some pain and stiffness 1 year after hip arthroplasty compared with nine patients (16%) having pain relief at the time of the survey. Although this cohort of patients is not representative of the general population, it illustrates the divergence of surgeon and patient views concerning the participation in athletic activities after total hip arthroplasty.

4.3 Specific Knee Studies

Bradbury et al.^[6] compared pre- and post-operative physical activity of 160 patients after total knee arthroplasty. The mean age was 68 years (range 27-87 years) and the mean follow-up 5 years (range 3-7 years). Of the 79 patients who participated in sporting activity prior to surgery, 51 patients (65%) returned to sports following surgery and 8 of 23 patients previously inactive started participation in sports following surgery. Bock et al.^[37] analysed the extent of patient activity after total knee replacement. In this study, 167 patients were asked to fill out a questionnaire about their physical activity preoperatively and post-operatively. The mean age at index surgery was 55 years (range 21-65 years) and at the time of follow-up 63 years (range 24-78 years). The pre-operative participation activity was 80.4%, which was reduced to 75.4% post-operatively.

In the USTA tennis survey after total knee arthroplasty, patients reported a return to competitive play at a mean of 5.9 months post-operative (range 1–10 months).^[15] Patients' mean NTRP ratings were 4.26 (range 1–7 years) post-operative compared with a mean 4.35 (range 1–7 years) rating before the onset of symptoms. This reflects a near return to presymptomatic function and ability in this cohort of patients. While all patients had severe pain or stiffness prior to surgery, only 12% (4 of 33) had pain or stiffness at the time of survey.

5. Discussion

The literature regarding participation in tennis after total hip or knee arthroplasty is extremely limited. Although many reports focus on patient outcomes in general, conflicts emerge in studies that describe survival rates for hip and knee arthroplasty in patients participating in high-impact sports. In the absence of a clear consensus in the literature about survival rates of total hip and total knee replacements following participation in tennis and highimpact activity, there is a need for prospective, randomised controlled studies. The risks and benefits of exercise after joint replacement have been well described.

Reports often do not reflect a true representation of the average patient undergoing total joint replacement. Although the majority of these articles did not specifically focus on tennis after total knee replacement, but on all high-level activities, they reflect the improved survivability of modern prostheses in active patients. Some of these studies included a small number of patients specifically involved in tennis.^[6,14,15,19,30,31,53] The patients in various studies showed no harmful association between short-term outcome and participation in tennis. However, longterm studies are missing to understand the effects of tennis on total hip and knee arthroplasty.

As people increasingly wish to engage in highimpact activities, the burden of the surgeon to establish expectations congruent with patient wishes becomes more important. It is, therefore, the authors recommendation that patients be advised that they can participate in sports post-operatively if they wish, with the understanding that involvement in such activity may render them more likely to sustain post-operative complications such as loosening, fracture and/or dislocation. Factors such as wear, joint loading, type of prosthesis and athletic intensity must be taken into account before recommending sports activity after total joint arthroplasty.

Newer prosthetic designs, advanced surgical techniques and improved surgeon skills are becoming a critical part of the decision-making process. Iorio et al.^[56] reported that pre-operative demand matching is an excellent indicator of patient activity post-operatively. Demand matching may be used to stratify patient activities following total joint replacement surgery and, therefore, should be includ-

ed in choosing the type of prosthesis and the surgical technique. It is every surgeon's obligation to identify patients' expectations, and to frankly discuss functional limits and possible outcomes of total joint arthroplasty with each patient, individually.

Many reports focus on the general benefits of returning to low-impact activity following total joint replacement.^[6,7,35,36] The return to recreational activity appears to be no problem for the majority of patients, whereas the return to high-impact sports remains a privilege of the younger and experienced patient. Patients who have participated in these athletic activities are more likely to return to these activities. The authors think that it is mandatory for the patient to strengthen the muscles around the joint before they return to full activity. Dubs et al.^[13] recommended a biphasic approach to rehabilitation. The first 6 months post-operatively should focus on which involves mobility rehabilitation, and strengthening exercises. During this phase, they recommend low-impact activities such as swimming, cycling and rowing. Once the muscles of the hip are adequately strengthened, they recommend a return to higher impact sports such as tennis, cross-country skiing and hiking. The concept of muscles sharing loads across joints and perhaps protecting joints has not yet been fully clarified in the literature. However, we agree with the approach of Dubs et al.^[13] and recommend extensive lower extremity rehabilitation before returning to high-activity sports after total knee and hip arthroplasty.

6. Conclusions

General recommendations to all patients regarding returning to high-activity sports after lower extremity total joint arthroplasty surgery should be avoided. We believe that giving out a recommendation for returning to high-activity is an individual process. It takes into account multiple factors such as patient age, type of prosthesis, underlying diseases, comorbidities, athletic experience, and extent of efforts and willingness to undergo rehabilitation. We also think it is appropriate to resume tennis after an intense rehabilitation protocol.

The outcome of total knee and hip arthroplasties has been reported with functional results being compatible with high athletic activity levels. This is encouraging for tennis players with total joint arthroplasties. More data will be following in the future concerning the effects of tennis on long-term clinical and radiographic outcome.

Acknowledgements

The authors did not receive any outside funding or grants to assist in the preparation of this manuscript. There are no potential conflicts of interest that the authors may have that are directly relevant to the content of this research work.

References

- 1. Clifford PE, Mallon WJ. Sports after total joint replacement. Clin Sports Med 2005 Jan; 24 (1): 175-86
- McGrory BJ, Stuart MJ, Sim FH. Participation in sports after hip and knee arthroplasty: review of literature and survey of surgeon preferences. Mayo Clin Proc 1995 Apr; 70 (4): 342-8
- Nicholls MA, Selby JB, Hartford JM. Athletic activity after total joint replacement. Orthopedics 2002 Nov; 25 (11): 1283-7
- Ritter MA, Meding JB. Total hip arthroplasty: can the patient play sports again? Orthopedics 1987 Oct; 10 (10): 1447-52
- Visuri T, Honkanen R. Total hip replacement: its influence on spontaneous recreation exercise habits. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1980 Jul; 61 (7): 325-8
- Bradbury N, Borton D, Spoo G, et al. Participation in sports after total knee replacement. Am J Sports Med 1998 Jul-Aug; 26 (4): 530-5
- Kuster MS. Exercise recommendations after total joint replacement: a review of the current literature and proposal of scientifically based guidelines. Sports Med 2002; 32 (7): 433-45
- Maloney WJ, Galante JO, Anderson M, et al. Fixation, polyethylene wear, and pelvic osteolysis in primary total hip replacement. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1999 Dec; (369): 157-64
- 9. Harris WH. Wear and periprosthetic osteolysis: the problem. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2001 Dec; (393): 66-70
- Cirincione RJ. Sports after total joint replacement. Md Med J 1996 Aug; 45 (8): 644-7
- Schmalzried TP, Shepherd EF, Dorey FJ, et al. The John Charnley Award. Wear is a function of use, not time. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2000 Dec; (381): 36-46
- Kilgus DJ, Dorey FJ, Finerman GA, et al. Patient activity, sports participation, and impact loading on the durability of cemented total hip replacements. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1991 Aug; (269): 25-31

- Dubs L, Gschwend N, Munzinger U. Sport after total hip arthroplasty. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 1983; 101 (3): 161-9
- Mont MA, LaPorte DM, Mullick T, et al. Tennis after total hip arthroplasty. Am J Sports Med 1999 Jan-Feb; 27 (1): 60-4
- Mont MA, Rajadhyaksha AD, Marxen JL, et al. Tennis after total knee arthroplasty. Am J Sports Med 2002 Mar-Apr; 30 (2): 163-6
- Cornell CN, Ranawat CS. Survivorship analysis of total hip replacements: results in a series of active patients who were less than fifty-five years old. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1986 Dec; 68 (9): 1430-4
- Von Strempel A, Menke W, Wirth C. Sportliche Aktivitaeten von Patienten mit zementfrei implantiertem Hueftgelenkersatz. Prakt Sport-Traum Sportmed 1992; 2: 58-64
- Widhalm R, Hofer G, Krugluger J, et al. Is there greater danger of sports injury or osteoporosis caused by inactivity in patients with hip prosthesis? Sequelae for long-term stability of prosthesis anchorage [in German]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 1990 Mar-Apr; 128 (2): 139-43
- Diduch DR, Insall JN, Scott WN, et al. Total knee replacement in young, active patients: long-term follow-up and functional outcome. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1997 Apr; 79 (4): 575-82
- Schmalzried TP, Callaghan JJ. Wear in total hip and knee replacements. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1999 Jan; 81 (1): 115-36
- Horikoshi M, Macaulay W, Booth RE, et al. Comparison of interface membranes obtained from failed cemented and cementless hip and knee prostheses. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1994 Dec; (309): 69-87
- 22. Kim YH, Kook HK, Kim JS. Total hip replacement with a cementless acetabular component and a cemented femoral component in patients younger than fifty years of age. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002 May; 84-A (5): 770-4
- Crowther JD, Lachiewicz PF. Survival and polyethylene wear of porous-coated acetabular components in patients less than fifty years old: results at nine to fourteen years. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2002 May; 84-A (5): 729-35
- Engh CA, Culpepper WJ, Engh CA. Long-term results of use of the anatomic medullary locking prosthesis in total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1997 Feb; 79 (2): 177-84
- 25. Dorr LD, Luckett M, Conaty JP. Total hip arthroplasties in patients younger than 45 years: a nine- to ten-year follow-up study. Clin Orthop Relat Res Nov 1990; (260): 215-9
- 26. Gschwend N, Frei T, Morscher E, et al. Alpine and crosscountry skiing after total hip replacement: 2 cohorts of 50 patients each, one active, the other inactive in skiing, followed for 5-10 years. Acta Orthop Scand 2000 Jun; 71 (3): 243-9
- 27. Lavernia CJ, Sierra RJ, Hungerford DS, et al. Activity level and wear in total knee arthroplasty: a study of autopsy retrieved specimens. J Arthroplasty 2001 Jun; 16 (4): 446-53
- Mintz L, Tsao AK, McCrae CR, et al. The arthroscopic evaluation and characteristics of severe polyethylene wear in total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1991 Dec; (273): 215-22
- Jones DL, Cauley JA, Kriska AM, et al. Physical activity and risk of revision total knee arthroplasty in individuals with knee osteoarthritis: a matched case-control study. J Rheumatol 2004 Jul; 31 (7): 1384-90

- Mont MA, Mathur SK, Krackow KA, et al. Cementless total knee arthroplasty in obese patients: a comparison with a matched control group. J Arthroplasty 1996 Feb; 11 (2): 153-6
- Mont MA, Lee CW, Sheldon M, et al. Total knee arthroplasty in patients ≤50 years old. J Arthroplasty Aug 2002; 17 (5): 538-43
- Roder C, Parvizi J, Eggli S, et al. Demographic factors affecting long-term outcome of total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2003 Dec; (417): 62-73
- 33. Bourne RB, Rorabeck CH, Laupacis A, et al. A randomized clinical trial comparing cemented to cementless total hip replacement in 250 osteoarthritic patients: the impact on health related quality of life and cost effectiveness. Iowa Orthop J 1994; 14: 108-14
- Laupacis A. The validity of survivorship analysis in total joint arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1989 Aug; 71 (7): 1111-2
- Ries MD, Philbin EF, Groff GD, et al. Improvement in cardiovascular fitness after total knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1996 Nov; 78 (11): 1696-701
- Ries MD, Philbin EF, Groff GD, et al. Effect of total hip arthroplasty on cardiovascular fitness. J Arthroplasty 1997 Jan; 12 (1): 84-90
- Bock P, Schatz K, Wurnig C. [Physical activity after total knee replacement]. Z Orthop Ihre Grenzgeb 2003 May-Jun; 141 (3): 272-6
- 38. Weiss JM, Noble PC, Conditt MA, et al. What functional activities are important to patients with knee replacements? Clin Orthop Relat Res 2002 Nov; (404): 172-88
- Chatterji U, Ashworth MJ, Lewis PL, et al. Effect of total hip arthroplasty on recreational and sporting activity. ANZ J Surg 2004 Jun; 74 (6): 446-9
- Macnicol MF, McHardy R, Chalmers J. Exercise testing before and after hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1980 Aug; 62 (3): 326-31
- 41. Dorey FJ. Survivorship analysis of surgical treatment of the hip in young patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2004 Jan; (418): 23-8
- 42. Kuster MS, Stachowiak GW. Factors affecting polyethylene wear in total knee arthroplasty. Orthopedics Feb 2002; 25 (2 Suppl.): s235-42
- Kuster MS, Wood GA, Stachowiak GW, et al. Joint load considerations in total knee replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1997 Jan; 79 (1): 109-13
- Dorr LD. Arthritis and athletics. Clin Sports Med 1991 Apr; 10 (2): 343-57

- Kurtz S, Mowat F, Ong K, et al. Prevalence of primary and revision total hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 1990 through 2002. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2005 Jul; 87 (7): 1487-97
- Trousdale RT, McGrory BJ, Berry DJ, et al. Patients' concerns prior to undergoing total hip and total knee arthroplasty. Mayo Clin Proc 1999 Oct; 74 (10): 978-82
- Pollock M, Wilmore J. Exercise in health and disease: evaluation and prescription for prevention and rehabilitation. 2nd ed. Philadelphia (PA): WB Saunders, 1990: 1-2
- Eisler T, Svensson O, Tengstrom A, et al. Patient expectation and satisfaction in revision total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2002 Jun; 17 (4): 457-62
- Brokelman RB, van Loon CJ, Rijnberg WJ. Patient versus surgeon satisfaction after total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2003 May; 85 (4): 495-8
- Moran M, Khan A, Sochart DH, et al. Evaluation of patient concerns before total knee and hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2003 Jun; 18 (4): 442-5
- 52. Macario A, Schilling P, Rubio R, et al. What questions do patients undergoing lower extremity joint replacement surgery have? BMC Health Serv Res 2003 Jun 24; 3 (1): 11
- 53. Huch K, Muller KA, Sturmer T, et al. Sports activities five years after total knee or hip arthroplasty: the Ulm Osteoarthritis Study. Ann Rheum Dis 2005 Dec; 64 (12): 1715-20
- Mallon WJ, Callaghan JJ. Total joint replacement in active golfers. J South Orthop Assoc 1994 Winter; 3 (4): 295-8
- 55. Peters P. Mountain sports and total hip arthroplasty: a case report and review of mountaineering with total hip arthroplasty. Wilderness Environ Med 2003 summer; 14 (2): 106-11
- Iorio R, Healy WL, Appleby D. Preoperative demand matching is a valid indicator of patient activity after total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty Oct 2004; 19 (7): 825-8

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Michael A. Mont*, Sinai Hospital of Baltimore, Rubin Institute for Advanced Orthopedics, Center for Joint Preservation and Reconstruction, Baltimore, MD 21215, USA.

E-mail: rhondamont@aol.com